Aus der Klinik für Dermatologie, Allergologie und Venerologie der Universität zu Lübeck Direktor: Prof. Dr. Detlef Zillikens

Untersuchungen zur Rolle von Komplement für die Blasenbildung der experimentellen Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita

Role of Complement Activation for Blister Formation in Experimental Epidermolysis Bullosa Acquisita

INAUGURAL-DISSERTATION

zur Erlangung der Doktorwürde der Universität zu Lübeck -Aus der Medizinischen Fakultät-

vorgelegt von

Sidonia Mihai

aus Miercurea-Ciuc, Rumänien

Lübeck 2007

- 1. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. med. Detlef Zillikens
- 2. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. med. Wolfgang Jelkmann
- 3. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. med. Thomas Schwarz

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	20.11.2007
-----------------------------	------------

zum Druck genehmigt. Lübeck, den 20.11.2007

gez. Prof. Dr. med. Werner Solbach -Dekan der Medizinischen Fakultät-

Table of contents

Abbreviations4
Introduction5
Aim of the study13
Materials and Methods14
Mice
Results
C1q-deficient mice are susceptible to skin blistering induced by antibodies against type VII collagen
Discussions
Summary
Zusammenfassung
References
Acknowledgements55
Curriculum vitae
List of own original articles generated during the thesis work
List of abstracts published during the thesis work61

Abbreviations

- Bf factor B
- BP bullous pemphigoid
- BP180 bullous pemphigoid antigen 2
- BP230 bullous pemphigoid antigen 1
- DEJ dermal-epidermal junction
- EBA epidermolysis bullosa acquisita
- ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- GST- glutathione-S-transferase
- IF immunofluorescence
- MASP mannan binding lectin-associated protease
- MBL mannan binding lectin
- mCOLVII murine type VII collagen
- MPO myeloperoxidase
- NC non-collagenous
- NRIgG normal rabbit IgG
- WT wild type

Introduction

Autoimmune bullous skin diseases are chronic diseases of unknown origin characterized by blistering of the skin and associated with tissue-bound and circulating autoantibodies to structural components of the skin. Based on clinical and histopathological features, autoimmune bullous diseases may be divided into pemphigus-type and subepidermal autoimmune diseases. The first group of diseases includes blistering diseases characterized by intraepidermal blister formation due to the loss of adhesion of keratinocytes and is associated with autoantibodies to the intercellular junctions of keratinocytes. The second group of diseases is characterized by subepidermal blisters caused by the loss of attachment of basal keratinocytes to the underlying basement membrane and is associated with autoantibodies to the dermalepidermal junction (DEJ).

Autoantibodies in patients with **pemphigus** were shown to specifically react with desmogleins (1-4) and desmocollins (5) (desmosomal transmembrane cell-adhesion molecules of cadherin type), with plakoglobin (an intracellular protein of the plakin family) (6), and with acethylcholine receptors (7, 8).

Over the past two decades, efforts have been made to identify antigens at the DEJ recognized by autoantibodies in patients with various forms of autoimmune **subepidermal blistering diseases (Fig. 1)**. Depending on the primary site of involvement, autoantibodies may bind to distinct DEJ molecules: the bullous pemphigoid (BP) antigens of 230kD (BP230) (9) or 180kD (BP180) (10, 11), plectin (12), and the α_3 (13, 14), β_3 , and γ_2 (15, 16) subunits of laminin 5; the α_6 (17) and β_4 (18-20) chains of $\alpha_6\beta_4$ integrin; a 168-170kD mucosal antigen (21); a 200 kDa dermal autoantigen (22),

type VII collagen (23), and the α_5 chain of type IV collagen (24). DEJ molecules that were identified as autoantigens in subepidermal blistering diseases are represented in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of autoantigens of the dermal-epidermal junction. Structural components of the skin basement membrane that may function as autoantigens in subepidermal blistering diseases and their relative position are shown. Plectin and BP230 are intracellular hemidesmosomal proteins. BP230 interacts with BP180 and $\alpha_6\beta_4$ integrin, which are transmembrane hemidesmosomal components. The α_6 chain of $\alpha_6\beta_4$ integrin interacts extracellularly with BP180. $\alpha_6 \beta_4$ integrin is a known ligand for laminin 5 in the lower lamina lucida and lamina densa. P200 is a not yet fully characterized autoantigen localized to the lower lamina lucida. Beside other ubiquitous proteins like perlecan and

nidogen (not shown), laminin 5 and type IV collagen form a network in the lamina densa. Laminin 5 binds to type VII collagen, which represents the major component of the anchoring fibrils.

Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita (EBA) is a chronic blistering disease of skin and mucous membranes characterized by subepidermal blisters and tissue-bound and circulating autoantibodies to the dermal-epidermal junction (25). Type VII collagen, the main constituent of anchoring fibrils, was identified as the autoantigen of EBA (23, 26). EBA is a clinically heterogeneous disease, which may present with an inflammatory or non-inflammatory phenotype. The first cases of a blistering disease with adult onset and features highly reminiscent of hereditary dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa were reported by Elliott more than 100 years ago (27). The mechanobullous, non-inflammatory form of EBA was defined in 1971 and is characterized by extreme skin fragility, trauma-induced blisters and erosions localized to the extensor skin surface, healing with scars and milia (28). In addition to the mechano-bullous variant, several inflammatory subtypes of EBA were described, clinically mimicking bullous pemphigoid, linear IgA disease, or mucos membrane pemphigoid (29-31). Certain EBA patients present with an inflammatory phenotype at the onset of the disease with overlapping or later evolving mechanobullous features (31, 32). EBA typically affects adults, but juvenile cases were also reported (33-39). EBA is a rare disease occurring in approximately 5% of unselected patients with basement membrane zone antibodies (40).

The disease is immunopathologically characterized by deposition of immunoreactants at the DEJ by direct immunofluorescence (IF) microscopy. The IgG and/or C3 deposits were shown to localize to the sublamina densa region of DEJ by direct immunoelectron microscopy (41). Indirect IF microscopy on 1M NaCl split-skin evidenced autoantibodies

to the dermal versant of the DEJ in serum of EBA patients (42), which label the sublamina densa zone by indirect immunoelectronmicroscopy (23). Although the site of immunoreactants deposition is always the lamina/sublamina densa region, in some EBA patients the cleavage plane localizes to the lamina lucida of the DEJ (43). Tissue bound and circulating antibodies in human EBA mainly belong to the IgG1 and IgG4 subclasses (44). EBA serum autoantibodies recognize the 290 kDa type VII collagen by immunoblotting with dermal extracts (23) and immunoprecipitation with keratinocyte and fibroblast extracts (45).

Type VII collagen, initially isolated from human chorioamniotic membranes, is an antiparallel dimer recognized as the major constituent of anchoring fibrils (46-49). The gene COL7A1, encoding for the human type VII collagen, was mapped to the short arm of the chromosome 3 (50, 51). The COL7A1 gene consists of 118 exons, more than any previously described gene (52). Type VII collagen is composed of three identical α chains, each consisting of a 145-kDa central collagenous triple-helical portion, flanked by a large 145-kDa amino-terminal non-collagenous domain (NC1), and a smaller 34-KDa carboxy-terminal non-collagenous domain (NC2) (50). In the extracellular space, type VII collagen molecules form antiparallel tail-to-tail dimers stabilized by disulfide bonding through a small carboxy-terminal overlap (NC2), while a fragment of the NC2 domain is proteolitically removed (53, 54).

The epitopes recognized by EBA sera were mapped to the NC1 domain of type VII collagen and autoantibodies in a minority of sera were also shown to react with triple-helical or NC2 domains (26, 39, 54-57), while exclusive reactivity to the triple-helical domain was documented in only three children with EBA (58).

The biological significance of type VII collagen is further substantiated by the existence of a hereditary form of dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. In the skin of these patients type VII collagen shows altered expression. Evidence accumulated that genetic defects in the correct synthesis, secretion, or in the molecular assembly of type VII collagen cause the different clinical forms of dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa (59-65). Interestingly, type VII collagen was found to have an elevated and topographically aberrant expression in the dermis of patients with systemic sclerosis under the regulatory action of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β). The presence of type VII collagen in the dermis may contribute to the tightly bound and indurated appearance of the affected skin in these patients (66).

The pathogenic relevance of antibodies against type VII collagen is supported by compelling evidence: 1) EBA autoantibodies were shown to recruit and activate leukocytes *ex vivo* resulting in dermal-epidermal separation in cryosections of human skin (67, 68). 2) Antibodies against type VII collagen induce subepidermal blisters when passively transferred into mice (69, 70). 3) Immunization with recombinant autologous type VII collagen induces an autoimmune response to this protein resulting in a blistering phenotype closely resembling human EBA (71).

Autoantibodies against type VII collagen are able to activate the complement system *in vivo* and *in vitro*. In the skin of EBA patients, deposition of different complement components, including C3, C5b, and membrane attack complex, are found with an incidence ranging from approximately 40% to 100% (72-74). In addition, deposition of C3 at the dermal-epidermal junction of murine skin is a constant feature in different passive transfer mouse models of EBA (69, 70) and in experimental EBA induced by

immunization of mice with autologous type VII collagen (71). These observations suggested that the complement system is involved in the autoimmune tissue injury in EBA. Indeed, this hypothesis was confirmed by recent studies showing that C5-deficient mice are resistant to blister induction by passive transfer of antibodies against type VII collagen (69).

Complement was first described in the 1980s as a heat-labile protein in serum that "complemented" heat-stable antibodies in the killing of bacteria. Now, the complement system, which consists of more than 30 plasma and and cell-surface proteins, is known to be a highly sophisticated host-defence system that is engaged both by innate immunity and as one of the main effector mechanisms of antibody-mediated immunity. Once the complement system is activated, a chain of reactions that involves proteolysis and assembly occurs, which results in cleavage of the third complement component (C3). The cascade that leads to the cleavage of C3 is called the activation pathway. It is followed by the lytic pathway, during which the membrane attack complex is formed (75, 76).

There are three different types of activation pathway: the classical, lectin, and alternative pathways **(Fig. 2)**. The classical pathway is activated primarily by antigen-antibody complexes binding to C1q (77). The lectin pathway is initiated by ficolins and mannan binding lectin (MBL) (78). The alternative pathway is continuously activated by factor B through a process called "tickover" of C3, and requires active control mechanisms to prevent autologous injury (79).



Figure 2. The three activation pathways of the complement system: the classical, lectin and alternative pathways. The classical pathway is initiated by the binding of C1 complex (consisting of C1q and two molecules each of C1r and C1s) to antibodies that are bound to antigens. The binding of the recognition subcomponent C1q to the Fc portion of immunoglobulins results in autoactivation of the serine protease C1r, which then cleaves and activates C1s. C1s first cleaves C4, and then cleaves C2, leading to the formation of a C4b2a enzyme complex, the C3 convertase of the classical pathway. The mannose-binding lectin pathway is initiated by the binding of either mannan-binding lectin (MBL) or ficolin-associated with MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs): MASP1, MASP2, MASP3, and small MBL-associated protein (sMAP) - to arrays of mannose groups on the surface of a bacterial cell. Similar to C1s, MASP2 is responsible for the activation of C4 and C2, which leaves to the generation of the same C3 convertase (C4b2a) as in the classical pathway. MASP1 is able to cleave C3 directly. The alternative pathway is capable of autoactivation because of a process termed "tickover" of C3, which occurs spontaneously in the plasma, generating a conformationally altered C3, designated C3(H₂O), which is capable of binding factor B (FB). Once factor B associates with C3, factor B itself changes conformation

and can then be cleaved by the constitutively active serum protease factor D (FD), generating Ba and Bb. The Bb fragment remains associated with the complex and can then, through its own serine protease domain, cleave additional C3 molecules, generating a form designated C3b. Once C3b is generated, it associates with factor B to generate more alternative pathway C3-convertase (C3bBb). The alternative pathway can also be initiated as an "amplification loop" when fixed C3b that is generated by classical or lectin pathway activation binds factor B, again resulting in conformational changes in factor B that allow factor D to clave it similarly to the tickover process. All these pathways converge to C3 activation and formation of C5 convertase, which cleaves native C5 to produce soluble C5a, a potent chemoattractant for neutrophils, and C5b, which triggers the membrane attack complex assembly (C5b-9).

Activation of the complement system promotes three main biological activities: opsonization of pathogens; chemotaxis and activation of leucocytes; and direct killing of pathogens. Recently, accumulating evidence has shown that the complement system also acts as an adjuvant by enhancing and directing the adaptive immune response (75, 76). In addition, many studies have also elaborated on the pathogenic role of complement during ischemic, inflammatory, and autoimmune diseases (80).

The relevance of the different complement components and pathways of the complement cascade in experimental EBA, which could represent targets for treatment, have remained unknown.

Aim of the study

The aim of the present study was to examine the relative contribution of the different complement activation pathways for blister formation in experimental EBA. We have recently demonstrated that antibodies generated against murine type VII collagen induce a subepidermal blistering disease closely resembling human EBA when passively transferred into mice of different strains. When injected into C5-deficient mice, antibodies to type VII collagen failed to induce the disease, demonstrating that activation of terminal complement components is required for blister induction in experimental EBA (69). To further dissect the role of the complement system in this model, we injected mice unable to activate complement by the classical (C1q-deficient), the mannan binding lectin (MBL-null), and the alternative (factor B-deficient) pathways, and their control littermates (n=10/group) with rabbit antibodies against murine type VII collagen. Our findings provide the first direct evidence for the involvement of the alternative pathway in an autoantibody-induced blistering disease and a conceptual framework for developing rational therapeutic strategies for EBA and related diseases.

Materials and methods

Mice. C1qa^{-/-} and Bf^{-/-} mice, backcrossed to BALB/c mice (for 10 and 7 generations, respectively), and MBL-null mice backcrossed to C57BL/6J mice (for 7 generations), were previously described (81-83). Age- and sex-matched BALB/c and C57BL/6J mice were obtained from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany). All injections and bleedings were performed on mice narcotized by inhalation of isoflurane or intraperitoneal administration of a mixture of ketamine (100 μ g/g) and xylazine (15 μ g/g). The experiments were approved by the local authorities of the Animal Care and Use Committee (6/g/04) and performed by certified personnel.

Affinity-purification of antibodies. Rabbits were immunized with recombinant forms of murine type VII collagen as described (69). IgG from immune and preimmune rabbit sera was purified by affinity chromatography using Protein G affinity, as previously reported (69). Reactivity of IgG fractions was analyzed by IF microscopy on murine skin.

Induction of blistering in vivo and phenotype assessment. Passive transfer studies followed published protocols with minor modifications (69). Briefly, mice received 6 injections of 7.5 mg rabbit IgG. Blisters or erosions were counted and the extent of skin disease was scored as follows: 0, no lesions; 1, < 10 lesions or < 1% of the skin surface; 2, > 10 lesions or 1-5% of the skin surface; 3, 5-10%; 4, 10-20%; and 5, >20% involvement of the skin surface. Biopsies of lesional and perilesional skin were obtained

2 days after the last injection of IgG and prepared for examination by histopathology and IF microscopy as described (69, 71). Tissue bound murine C5 was detected by incubation of the frozen sections prepared from tissue biopsies with a monoclonal antibody specific to murine C5 (BB5.1) (84) and, finally, with a FITC-labeled antibody specific to mouse IgG (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark). The staining intensity of immunoreactants in the skin of immunized mice was assessed semiquantitatively using a score comprising 0, for no staining; 1, faint staining; 2, medium; and 3, intense staining (71).

Neutrophil infiltration of murine skin was assayed as described (85), with minor modifications. Briefly, in both clinically diseased and not diseased mice, left ear was removed after killing the mice and skin samples (approximately 10 x 5 mm in size) were extracted by homogenization in a buffer containing 0.1 M Tris-Cl, pH 7.6, 0.15 M NaCl, 0.5% hexadecyl trimethylammoniumbromide (Sigma). Myleoperoxidaze (MPO) activity in the supernatant fraction was measured by the change in optical density at 460 nm resulting from decomposition of H_2O_2 in the presence of *o*-dianisidine (Sigma). A standard reference curve was established using known concentrations of purified MPO (Sigma). MPO content was expressed as units of MPO activity per mg of protein. Protein concentrations were determined by the Bradford dye-binding assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond, CA).

For the *in vivo* reconstitution with leukocytes, murine granulocytes were isolated from peripheral blood and bone marrow of donor BALB/c mice by 3% dextran sedimentation followed by density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences AB, Uppsala, Sweden) and hypotonic lysis in 0.2% NaCl. Only cell preparations with viability above 95% as assessed by trypan-blue exclusion were used.

These consisted of >90% granulocytes as revealed by Giemsa staining and by flow cytometry as described (68). Granulocytes were defined as $Gr-1^{hi}$ CD11b^{hi} using mAb specific to murine Gr-1 (RB6-8C5) and to CD11b (M1/70) (both from BD Biosciences). Mice were injected with 5 x 10⁶ cells in 50µl medium intradermally in the ears. The animals were examined clinically after 12 and 24 h, subsequently killed and samples prepared and analysed as described above.

Detection of antibody levels by ELISA. ELISA using recombinant murine type VII collagen was performed at room temperature on 96-well microtiter plates as previously reported (71) with minor modifications. Briefly, each well was coated with 500 ng of the recombinant protein glutathione-S-transferase (GST)-mCOL7C or with an equimolar amount of GST in 0.1 M bicarbonate buffer, pH 9.6 and incubated with 200-fold dilutions of mouse serum for 60 min. Bound antibodies were detected using a 10,000-fold dilution of an horseradish peroxidase-labelled goat anti rabbit IgG antibody (DAKO) and orthophenylene diamine (Sigma). The colour reaction was read at 490 nm using a multilabel counter (Victor 3; Perkin Elmer, Wellesley, MA). To evaluate reactivity against the epidermal basement membrane, for each serum, the mean optical density reading obtained with GST was subtracted from the mean reading with GST-mCOL7C.

Statistical analysis. We used OpenStat2 free software for Linux (<u>http://www.agrivisser.com/cgibin/English/OpenStat2.htm</u>). Differences in disease severity and in MPO activity were calculated using the Chi-square and Student's *t* test, respectively. The Mann-Whitney *U* test was used to compare values for semiquantitative

scoring of immunohistochemistry. Means are presented \pm S.E.M.; p< 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

C1q-deficient mice are susceptible to skin blistering induced by antibodies against type VII collagen

To examine the role of the C1q complement component for subepidermal blister formation in experimental EBA, we injected C1qa^{-/-} (n=10) and wild type (n=10) mice with rabbit IgG against murine type VII collagen. All mice injected with antibodies against type VII collagen developed single blisters 4 days after the first injection. Widespread lesions, including blisters, erosions and crusts, occurred 6 days after the first injection **(Fig. 3, a and b)**.



Figure 3. C1q-deficient mice are susceptible to the induction of subepidermal blisters by antibodies specific to type VII collagen. Skin lesions, including blisters and erosions covered by crusts on the ear and front leg, and alopecia of the snout and around eyes, developed in both (a) wild type and (b) C1qa^{-/-} mice, which received a total dose of 45 mg of rabbit IgG against type VII collagen (day 12). A C1qa^{-/-} mouse receiving the same amount of control rabbit lqG (c) did not develop skin lesions. Immunofluorescence microscopy analysis of perilesional skin revealed deposition of rabbit IgG at the dermal epidermal junction of both (d) wild type and (e) C1ga^{-/-} mice injected with antibodies against type VII collagen, (f) but not in the C1ga^{-/-} mouse treated with control rabbit IgG. Deposits of mouse C3 along the dermal epidermal junction were strong in the skin of (g) wild type and weak in the skin of (h) C1ga^{/-} mice injected with antibodies against type VII collagen, and (i) absent in the C1ga^{-/-} mouse treated with control rabbit IgG. Staining for murine C5 revealed similar deposits in the skin of the (i) wild type and of the (k) C1qa^{-/-} mice treated with antibodies against type VII collagen, but (I) was absent in the C1qa^{-/-} mouse injected with control rabbit IgG. Histological analysis of lesional skin revealed extensive dermalepidermal separation and a neutrophil-rich inflammatory infiltrate in both (m) wild type and (n) C1aa^{-/-} mice injected with antibodies against type VII collagen. No histological appearance (o) in the skin of the C1ga^{-/-} mouse injected with control rabbit IgG.

Only at the end of the observation period, C1qa^{-/-} mice demonstrated significantly less extensive skin disease compared with control mice (**Fig. 4a**). The levels of rabbit antibodies against type VII collagen in serum of mice of both groups were similar (**Fig. 4b**).



Figure 4. Time course and disease severity in C1q-deficient and control mice. (a) C1qa^{-/-}and wild type (WT) mice (n=10 per group) were injected with 7.5 mg of purified rabbit IgG to murine type VII collagen every second day, over a period of 12 days, and evaluated for skin lesions, as described in Methods. *represents significant difference of disease activity (p < 0.05) between the 2 groups. (b) Serum levels of antibodies to type VII collagen in C1qa^{-/-} and wild type (WT) mice (n=10 per group) injected with rabbit antibodies against type VII collagen (antiCVII) or normal rabbit IgG (NR IgG) as detected by ELISA using recombinant antigen. All values are mean \pm S.E.M.

No clinical lesions were observed in C1qa^{-/-} (n=2) and wild type mice (n=2) that received normal rabbit IgG at any time during the observation period (**Fig. 3c**). IF microscopy analysis of perilesional mouse skin revealed linear deposition of rabbit IgG at the dermal-epidermal junction in all mice that received IgG specific to murine type VII collagen (**Fig. 3, d and e**). No IgG deposits were observed in the skin of mice injected with normal rabbit IgG (**Fig. 3f**). Staining for murine complement C3 was bright in the skin of wild type mice (**Fig. 3g**) and significantly less intense or absent in the skin of C1qa^{-/-} mice (**Fig. 3h**) (C1qa^{-/-} versus wild type mice: 1.3 ± 0.15 versus 2.0 ± 0.24 ; p < 0.05) injected with antibodies against type VII collagen. No C3b deposits were observed

in the skin of mice injected with normal rabbit IgG (Fig. 3i). However, staining for murine complement C5 was similar in the skin of wild type (Fig. 3j) and C1qa^{-/-} mice (Fig. 3k) injected with antibodies against type VII collagen, as shown by grading intensity of C5 staining in perilesional skin biopsies obtained from the two groups of mice (C1qa^{-/-} versus wild type mice: 2.6 ± 0.22 versus 2.8 ± 0.26 ; p > 0.05). No C5 deposits were observed in the skin of mice injected with normal rabbit IgG (Fig. 3I). Histological examination of lesional skin biopsies from diseased wild type (Fig. 3m) and C1qa^{-/-} (Fig. 3n) mice injected with IgG against type VII collagen revealed extensive dermal-epidermal separation accompanied by dense inflammatory infiltrates that were dominated by neutrophils. No histological alterations were observed in mice injected with normal rabbit IgG (Fig. 3o).

MBL-null mice develop subepidermal blisters when injected with antibodies against type VII collagen

In further experiments, we analyzed the contribution of MBL for complement activation and blister formation in experimental EBA. MBL-null (n=10) and wild type (n=10) mice were treated with antibodies against murine type VII collagen. Both MBL-null and control mice developed widespread blistering disease (Fig. 5, a and b).



Figure 5. Antibodies against type VII collagen induce subepidermal blisters in MBL-null mice. Skin lesions, including blisters and erosions covered by crusts on the ear and front leg and alopecia of the snout and around eyes developed in both (a) MBL-sufficient and (b) MBL-null mice, receiving a total dose of 45 mg of rabbit IgG against murine type VII collagen (day 12). IF analysis of perilesional skin revealed deposition of (c, d) rabbit IgG and (e, f) murine C3 at the dermal epidermal junction of both MBL-sufficient and MBL-null mice. Histological analysis of lesional skin revealed extensive dermal-epidermal separation and a neutrophil-rich inflammatory infiltrate in both (g) MBL-sufficient and (h) MBL-null mice.

Levels of circulating antibodies against type VII collagen and disease severity were similar in MBL-null and control mice at any time during the observation period (Fig. 6, a and b).



Figure 6. Time course and disease severity in MBL-null and control mice. (a) MBL-null and control mice (WT) (n=10 per group) were injected with 7.5 mg of purified rabbit IgG to murine type VII collagen every second day, over a period of 12 days, and evaluated for skin lesions, as described in Methods. (b) Serum levels of antibodies to type VII collagen in MBL-null and wild type (WT) mice (n=10 per group) injected with rabbit antibodies against type VII collagen (antiCVII) or normal rabbit IgG (NR IgG) as detected by ELISA using recombinant antigen. All values are mean ± S.E.M..

MBL-null and control mice (n=2 per group) treated with normal rabbit IgG did not develop skin disease (data not shown). IF microscopy revealed linear deposition of rabbit IgG (Fig. 5, c and d) and murine C3 (Fig. 5, e and f) at the dermal-epidermal junction of mice from both groups. Histological analysis of lesional skin showed

subepidermal cleavage and a neutrophil-rich inflammatory infiltrate in all mice injected with rabbit IgG to murine type VII collagen (Fig. 5, g and h).

Antibodies against type VII collagen induce a delayed and milder blistering in factor B-deficient mice

To assess the contribution of the alternative pathway, we injected antibodies against murine type VII collagen in mice lacking factor B. Wild type mice (n=10) developed initial blisters 4 days after the first injection of rabbit IgG to type VII collagen, while widespread disease was observed 6 days after the first injection (**Fig. 7a**). Importantly, Bf^{-/-} mice (n=10) treated with antibodies against type VII collagen developed a delayed and significantly less severe blistering phenotype compared with control mice (**Fig. 7b, c and 8**).



Figure 7. Factor B-deficient mice are relatively resistant to the induction of subepidermal blisters by antibodies against type VII collagen. (a) Erosions covered by crusts on the back and leg of a wild type mouse, which received a total dose of 22.5 mg rabbit IgG against murine type VII collagen, but not in a **(b)** Bf^{-/-} mouse challenged with the same dose of pathogenic IgG (day 7). **(c)** crusted erosions on the hind leg of a Bf^{-/-} mouse injected with 45 mg of pathogenic IgG. Immunofluorescence microscopy analysis of mouse skin revealed deposition of rabbit IgG in **(d)** wild type and Bf^{-/-} mice on days 7 **(e)** and **(f)** 12 of the experiment. Staining for murine C3 revealed similar deposits in the skin of both **(g)** wild type and Bf^{-/-} mice on days 7 **(h)** and **(i)** 12 of the experiment. Deposits of mouse C5 along the dermal epidermal junction were strong in the skin of a **(j)** wild type mouse and absent in the skin of Bf^{-/-} mice on days 7 **(k)**

and **(I)** 12 of the experiment. Histological analysis of murine skin revealed extensive dermal-epidermal separation and a rich inflammatory infiltrate, consisting mainly of neutrophils in **(m)** wild type, but not in **(n)** Bf^{-/-} mice on day 7. **(o)** In contrast, Bf^{-/-} mice on day 12 demonstrated subepidermal cleavage and dense dermal granulocytic infiltration.



Figure 8. Factor B-deficient mice develop a delayed and significantly less severe blistering disease compared with control mice. Wild type (WT) and Bf^{-/-}mice were injected with 7.5 mg of purified rabbit IgG to murine type VII collagen every second day, over a period of 12 days, and evaluated for skin lesions, as described in Methods. Disease activity is represented as mean \pm S.E.M. in 10 wild type and Bf^{-/-}mice mice. *represents significant difference of disease activity between the 2 groups (p < 0.05).

Wild type (n=2) and Bf^{-/-} (n=2) mice treated with normal rabbit IgG did not develop skin disease (data not shown). By histopathology, subepidermal blisters and neutrophil infiltration were observed in biopsies of lesional skin obtained from wild type mice (**Fig. 7m**), while no or reduced dermal-epidermal separation and neutrophil influx were detected in the skin of Bf^{-/-} mice (**Fig. 7, n and o**). IF microscopy of skin biopsies showed

linear deposition of rabbit IgG at the dermal-epidermal junction of both wild type and Bf^{-/-} mice (Fig. 7, d, e and f). Staining for murine complement C3 was similar in the skin of Bf^{-/-} (Fig. 7, h and i), compared with wild type mice (Fig. 7g), as shown by grading intensity of C3 staining in the perilesional skin biopsies obtained from the two groups of mice (Bf^{-/-} versus wild type mice: 1.11 ± 0.11 versus 1.22 ± 0.15 ; p > 0.05). In contrast, staining for murine complement C5 was bright in the skin of wild type mice (Fig. 7j) and significantly less intense or absent in the skin of Bf^{-/-} mice (Fig. 7, k and I) (Bf^{-/-} versus wild type mice: 0.33 ± 0.24 versus 1.33 ± 0.33 ; p < 0.05).

The levels of rabbit antibodies against type VII collagen were comparable in serum of Bf^{-/-} and wild type mice (**Fig. 9a**). Interestingly, granulocytes were significantly less recruited into the dermis of the Bf^{-/-} mice injected with IgG against type VII collagen compared with the wild type mice as demonstrated by histological analysis and measurements of the MPO activity in skin biopsies (**Fig. 9b**).



Figure 9. Injection of antibodies against type VII collagen results in less neutrophil infiltration in factor B-deficient compared with wild type mice. (a) Serum levels of antibodies to type VII collagen in

Bf^{/-} and wild type (WT) mice (n=10 per group) treated with 7.5 mg per injection of rabbit antibodies against type VII collagen (antiCVII) or normal rabbit IgG (NR IgG) as detected by ELISA using recombinant antigen. **(b)** Neutrophil infiltrates in the skin of wild type (WT) and Bf^{-/-} mice treated with the antibodies against type VII collagen or control antibody as assessed by measuring myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity in skin biopsies as described in Methods (*significant difference, p < 0.01). All values are means ± S.E.M.

Reconstitution with granulocytes renders factor B-deficient mice readily susceptible to blistering by antibodies against type VII collagen

To verify whether a lower recruitment of granulocytes is responsible for the inhibition of blistering, Bf^{-/-} mice were treated with antibodies against murine type VII collagen and locally injected on day 6 with granulocytes purified from wild type and Bf^{-/-} mice (intradermal injection). Both wild type mice (n=4) treated with IgG against type VII collagen alone (Fig. 10a) and Bf^{-/-}mice (n=4) injected with antibodies against murine type VII collagen and locally reconstituted with wild type (Fig. 10b) and Bf^{-/-} (data not shown) granulocytes (n=4 per group) developed blisters and erosions on their ears. In contrast, $Bf^{-/-}$ mice (n=2) treated with control rabbit IgG and reconstituted with wild type granulocytes did not show any skin alterations (Fig. 10c). Histological analysis revealed an infiltrate of neutrophils in the dermis of all groups of mice (Fig. 10, d, e, and f). Recruitment of granulocytes to the dermal-epidermal junction and subepidermal cleavage was found in the skin of control mice injected with antibodies against murine type VII collagen (Fig. 10d) and of Bf^{-/-} mice injected with antibodies to murine type VII collagen and locally reconstituted with wild type (Fig. 10e) and Bf^{-/-} (data not shown) granulocytes, but not in the skin of Bf^{-/-} mice treated with control rabbit IgG and reconstituted with murine granulocytes (Fig. 10f).



Figure 10. Local reconstitution with granulocytes renders factor B-deficient mice susceptible to the antibody-induced skin blistering. Mice were treated with a total dose of 22.5 mg rabbit IgG subcutaneously into the back and, subsequently, ears were injected with 5 x 10⁶ murine granulocytes in 50 μI medium intradermally. Both a **(a)** wild type mouse injected with rabbit antibodies to murine type VII collagen and a **(b)** Bf^{-/-} mouse injected with pathogenic rabbit IgG and locally reconstituted with granulocytes developed blisters and erosions on their ears. **(c)** A Bf^{-/-} mouse treated with control rabbit IgG and reconstituted with granulocytes did not show skin alterations. **(d, e, f)** Histological analysis revealed an infiltrate of neutrophils in the dermis of all mice. Dermal-epidermal separation was observed in the skin of both the **(d)** wild type mouse injected with rabbit antibodies to murine type VII collagen and the **(e)** Bf^{-/-} mouse treated with pathogenic rabbit IgG and locally reconstituted with granulocytes, but not in the skin of the **(f)** Bf^{-/-} mouse treated with control rabbit IgG and reconstituted with granulocytes.

Discussion

The mechanisms of autoantibody-induced blistering in EBA are not fully understood. Several possible mechanisms were proposed that include: 1) complement activation, recruitment and activation of inflammatory cells by autoantibodies bound to anchoring fibrils, 2) autoantibodies specific to type VII collagen may directly interfere with the antiparallel dimer formation and its proper incorporation into the anchoring fibrils, and 3) disruption of the interaction between type VII collagen and its ligands. While in vivo evidence supporting a direct, Fc-independent, non-inflammatory experimental mechanisms of blister induction in EBA is still lacking, a growing body of clinical and experimental evidence favors the inflammatory hypothesis (86). Blistering induced by binding of antibodies to type VII collagen seems to be dependent on triggering downstream inflammatory pathways, including complement (69) and leukocytes (87). However, the relevance of the different complement components and pathways of the complement cascade in experimental EBA, which could represent targets for treatment, have remained unknown. Therefore, in the present study, we injected mice unable to activate complement by the classical (C1q-deficient), the mannan binding lectin (MBLnull), and the alternative (factor B-deficient) pathways with rabbit antibodies against murine type VII collagen.

We made the unanticipated observation that C1q-deficiency and blockade of complement activation by the classical pathway does not inhibit tissue injury induced by antibodies against type VII collagen in mice. Instead, we found the activation of the alternative complement pathway to play a pivotal role for the antibody-induced blistering. The passive transfer of antibodies against type VII collagen into mice provokes within

days a subepidermal blistering disease reproducing the clinical, histopathological, immunopathological and electron microscopical findings in patients with EBA. A likely scenario is that, after binding to their target at the dermal-epidermal junction, antibodies against type VII collagen trigger a cascade of events that includes the activation of the complement network and/or engagement of FcRs on leukocytes recruited into the skin. Potent inflammatory mediators, including cytokines, reactive oxygen species, and proteases released by granulocytes most probably amplify local inflammation and are instrumental for tissue destruction (88).

This scenario bears similarities to the effector phase of other autoantibody-induced inflammatory diseases, including arthritis (89), vitiligo (90), cryoglobulinemia (91, 92), bullous pemphigoid (93) and anti-phospholipid syndrome (94). In contrast, the pathogenic effects of autoantibodies in other autoimmune diseases such as pemphigus (95) are mediated strictly by binding to their target antigen and do not involve the complement network. An overall remark with regard to the role of complement in tissue injury in autoimmune diseases is that its contribution varies depending on the particular tissue involved and the genetic background. Examining complement activation pathways in different autoimmune diseases in patients and experimental animals is therefore mandatory to identify key molecular effectors of inflammatory tissue injury for therapeutic interventions.

It is textbook knowledge that complement-fixing (auto)antibodies bind to the C1q and trigger the complement cascade by the classical pathway. It has been therefore proposed that antibody-induced tissue injury essentially depends on complement activation by the classical pathway. In the present study, we found the complement component C1q to be dispensable for the induction of blisters by antibodies against type

VII collagen. In line with the present observations, C1g-deficiency does not protect from autoantibody-induced tissue injury in cryoglobulin-induced immune complex glomerulonephritis (91). In addition, the blockade of the classical pathway in C4^{-/-} mice does not abolish the pathogenic effects of K/BxN-derived anti-GPI serum or of anticollagen II antibodies in a passive transfer model of rheumatoid arthritis (89, 96). Fetal loss and growth restriction triggered by anti-cardiolipin antibodies in mice, main features of the anti-phospholipid syndrome, and blistering induced by antibodies to BP180 in experimental bullous pemhigoid, also depend on complement activation (93, 97, 98). However, in these experimental models, the resistance of $C4^{-/-}$ mice to tissue injury demonstrates an important role of an intact classical complement activation pathway (94, 98). The differences with regard to the classical pathway contribution to pathology in these experimental disease models have not yet been explained. One may only speculate that differences of targeted antigens and binding of antibodies as well as different isotypes and glycosylation of antibodies may influence the interaction of antigen-antibody complexes with various components of the complement network.

To evaluate the contribution of factor B for antibody-induced blistering, we analyzed disease expression in Bf^{-/-} mice (82). Induction of blistering was delayed and the extent of cutaneous disease was significantly lower in Bf^{-/-} compared with wild type mice. This interesting finding raised the question of what activates the alternative pathway. A classical explanation is that the alternative pathway is initiated as "an amplification loop" by fixed C3b generated by classical or lectin pathways. However, blockade of complement activation by the classical pathway in C1q-deficient mice or by the lectin pathway in MBL-null mice did not alter the antibody-induced blistering. These findings suggest that initial complement activation occurs by both classical and lectin pathways,

which can thus compensate for each other. An additional possibility is that the activation and amplification of the alternative pathway is due to a breakdown of the active control of the alternative pathway in the skin caused by binding of antibodies, which may act as activating surfaces. Although it has not been reported that ficolins bind immunoglobulins, our study cannot rule out a possible involvement of ficolins that are also able to initiate the lectin pathway (99, 100).

Granulocyte recruitment to the dermal-epidermal junction by antibodies is a prerequisite for blister induction in the animal model used in this study (87) and in the *ex vivo* cryosection model of EBA (67). Our present findings show that the absence of factor B impairs the recruitment of granulocytes into the skin of mice injected with antibodies against type VII collagen. In line with these results, inhibition of neutrophil recruitment into the joints has been observed in factor B-deficient mice passively transferred with K/BxN-derived anti-GPI serum (89). The relevance of granulocyte recruitment into the skin is further supported by the fact that local reconstitution of factor B-deficient mice with granulocytes following injection of antibodies against type VII collagen resulted in blister formation.

It has been suggested that neutrophils promote complement deposition by causing damage that triggers complement activation and by secreting C3 and/or properdin at sites of inflammation to amplify complement activation via the alternative pathway. Properdin functions by stabilizing the interaction of factor B with spontaneously generated C3(H₂O) and the formation of C3 convertase C3bBb (101, 102). As depletion of neutrophils abolishes blister induction in the animal model used in this study (87), an alternative explanation for the importance of the alternative pathway in our model could be that infiltrating cells, such as neutrophils, bring in C3 and properdin that increase

activation specifically at that site by providing additional substrate for the alternative pathway. Linkage of the alternative pathway activation with neutrophil infiltration has been suggested to contribute to the resistance of mice deficient in factor B to joint damage after treatment with arthriogenic antibodies (89), and to fetal loss and growth restriction after injection of anti-cardiolipin antibodies (97) in passive transfer models that parallel our model. However, the finding that factor B-deficient granulocytes, similar to wild type cells, also mediate blister formation in our model strongly suggests that factor B produced by granulocytes is not essentially required for antibody-induced blistering in experimental EBA.

Deposition of the complement protein C3 at sites of autoantibody binding in tissues is a hallmark of autoimmune diseases in humans (103). Our present results show that C3 deposition in the skin is not imperiously associated with antibody-induced tissue injury. On one hand, a reduced C3 deposition was found in C1q-deficient mice susceptible to experimental EBA. On the other hand, C3 deposits were found in factor B-deficient mice resistant to blister induction by antibodies against type VII collagen. Interestingly, a markedly reduced C5 deposition was found in factor B-deficient mice compared with controls. Indeed, it has been recently shown that generation of C5a does not absolutely require C3 (104). Proteases released by leukocytes recruited at the dermal-epidermal junction could also contribute to generation of C5a in our model (105, 106). Why complement activation at the dermal-epidermal junction in C1q-deficient mice is curtailed beyond the C3 activation step is unclear, but reminiscent of the targeted and restricted complement activation that may occur on modified self tissues (107). Taken together, these findings suggest that generation of C5a in our model is required for disease expression, but partly independent of the classical C5 convertase (C4b2a3b) availability.

Among the complement activation products, C5a is one of the most potent inflammatory peptides, with a broad spectrum of functions: it attracts and activates neutrophils, monocytes and mast cells, and stimulates the release of inflammatory mediators, including reactive oxygen species, proteolytic enzymes, chemokynes and cytokines, as well as complement components (108). Neutrophil-dependent animal models similar to our animal model have identified the proinflammatory sequelae of C5a: C5a receptor interactions as being a critical intermediate linking pathogenic antibodies to tissue damage (89, 94). In previous studies, we have found C5-deficient mice to be resistant to the induction of blisters by antibodies to type VII collagen, demonstrating that activation of terminal complement components is required for blister formation in experimental EBA (69). However, C5 deficiency does not only prevents the downstream activation of terminal complement components with subsequent formation of the membrane attack complex, but also eliminates the production of C5a. In this context, we can only speculate on the key effector role played by the C5a molecule in the granulocytedependent tissue injury in our model. However, the effect of C5a inhibition on the outcome of experimental EBA still needs to be elucidated.

New mechanistic insights into the role of complement activation in the pathogenesis of autoimmune inflammatory diseases facilitate targeting complement pathways for therapeutic drug development. In addition to many reports of a beneficial effect of complement blockade in animal models, anti-C5 therapy is well tolerated and effective in patients with paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria (109, 110). Our present study identifies factor B as an additional target of therapy in inflammatory autoimmune blistering diseases. Selective inhibition of this pathway may not result in side effects seen with inhibitors of C3 and C5 convertases. Such an inhibitory monoclonal antibody

against factor B prevents antiphospholipid antibody-induced pregnancy loss in mice (79). To avoid a global inhibition of complement activation, more specific approaches were explored to target inhibitors of complement activation to the site of inflammation by linking inhibitors to the complement receptor (CR) 2 (111, 112). C3 breakdown products deposited at sites of complement activation are natural ligands for CR2. Thus blockers of the alternative pathway could be directed to the dermal-epidermal junction by designing fusion proteins of CR2 and single-chain variable fragments (scFv) of mAb or inhibitory peptides.

In conclusion, our results demonstrate that an intact alternative complement activation pathway is required for blistering induced by antibodies against type VII collagen. Thus selectively blocking this pathway may offer therapeutic benefit in patients with EBA and related autoantibody-mediated diseases.

Summary

Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita is a subepidermal blistering disease associated with tissue-bound and circulating autoantibodies against type VII collagen, a major constituent of the dermal-epidermal junction. The passive transfer of antibodies against type VII collagen into mice induces a subepidermal blistering disease dependent upon activation of terminal complement components. To further dissect the role of the different complement activation pathways in this model, we injected C1q-deficient, mannan binding lectin-deficient (MBL-null), and factor B-deficient mice with rabbit antibodies against murine type VII collagen. The development and evolution of blistering had a similar pattern in MBL-null and control mice, and was initially only marginally less extensive in C1q-deficient mice compared with controls. Importantly, factor B-deficient mice developed a delayed and significantly less severe blistering disease compared with factor B-sufficient mice. A significantly lower neutrophilic infiltration was observed in factor B-deficient mice compared with controls, and local reconstitution with granulocytes restored the blistering disease in factor B-deficient mice. Our study provides the first direct evidence for the involvement of the alternative pathway in an autoantibody-induced blistering disease and should facilitate the development of new therapeutic strategies for epidermolysis bullosa acquisita and related autoimmune diseases.

Zusammenfassung

Die Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita ist eine subepidermal blasenbildende Autoimmunerkrankung, die mit Autoantikörpern gegen Typ VII Kollagen einhergeht. Durch passiven Transfer von Autoantikörpern gegen Typ VII Kollagen in Mäuse konnten wir erstmals eine subepidermale blasenbildende Erkrankung hervorrufen, die mit der Komplement assoziiert Um die Aktivierung von war. Bedeutung des Komplementsystems für die Pathogenese der EBA näher zu charakterisieren, injizierten wir genetisch veränderten Mäusen mit Defizienzen von C1q (klassischer Komplementaktivierungsweg), von Faktor B (alternativer Komplementaktivierungsweg) und von Mannan bindendem Lektin (Lektinweg der Komplementaktivierung) pathogene Antikörper. Die Entwicklung der Blasen war bei MBL-null und Kontrollmäusen ähnlich und bei C1q-defizienten Mäusen gegen Ende der Experimente etwas geringer als bei den Kontrollmäusen. Demgegenüber entwickelten die Faktor B-defizienten Mäuse deutlich verspätet und weniger Blasen als die Faktor B-suffizienten Mäuse. Im Vergleich zu den Kontrolltieren wurde bei Faktor B-defizienten Mäusen auch eine signifikant geringere Infiltration von Neutrophilen beobachtet, während die lokale Rekonstitution mit Granulozyten die Blasenbildung in Faktor B-defizienten Mäusen wiederherstellte. Die vorliegende Arbeit identifiziert erstmals den alternativen Komplementweg als einen Effektormechanismus für die durch Autoantikörper induzierte Blasenbildung und soll die Grundlage für spezifischere Therapieansätze für die entzündliche Gewebeschädigung durch Autoantikörper darstellen.

References

- Stanley, J. R., M. Yaar, P. Hawley-Nelson, and S. I. Katz. 1982. Pemphigus antibodies identify a cell surface glycoprotein synthesized by human and mouse keratinocytes. *J Clin Invest 70:281*.
- Amagai, M., V. Klaus-Kovtun, and J. R. Stanley. 1991. Autoantibodies against a novel epithelial cadherin in pemphigus vulgaris, a disease of cell adhesion. *Cell* 67:869.
- Karpati, S., M. Amagai, R. Prussick, K. Cehrs, and J. R. Stanley. 1993. Pemphigus vulgaris antigen, a desmoglein type of cadherin, is localized within keratinocyte desmosomes. *J Cell Biol 122:409*.
- Wang, J., J. Kwon, X. Ding, J. A. Fairley, D. T. Woodley, and L. S. Chan. 1997.
 Nonsecretory IgA1 autoantibodies targeting desmosomal component desmoglein
 3 in intraepidermal neutrophilic IgA dermatosis. *Am J Pathol 150:1901*.
- Hashimoto, T., C. Kiyokawa, O. Mori, M. Miyasato, M. A. Chidgey, D. R. Garrod, Y. Kobayashi, K. Komori, K. Ishii, M. Amagai, and T. Nishikawa. 1997. Human desmocollin 1 (Dsc1) is an autoantigen for the subcorneal pustular dermatosis type of IgA pemphigus. *J Invest Dermatol 109:127*.
- Korman, N. J., R. W. Eyre, V. Klaus-Kovtun, and J. R. Stanley. 1989. Demonstration of an adhering-junction molecule (plakoglobin) in the autoantigens of pemphigus foliaceus and pemphigus vulgaris. *N Engl J Med 321:631*.
- Nguyen, V. T., A. Ndoye, and S. A. Grando. 2000. Novel human alpha9 acetylcholine receptor regulating keratinocyte adhesion is targeted by pemphigus vulgaris autoimmunity. *Am J Pathol* 157:1377.

- 8. Nguyen, V. T., A. Ndoye, and S. A. Grando. 2000. Pemphigus vulgaris antibody identifies pemphaxin. A novel keratinocyte annexin-like molecule binding acetylcholine. *J Biol Chem* 275:29466.
- Stanley, J. R., P. Hawley-Nelson, S. H. Yuspa, E. M. Shevach, and S. I. Katz.
 1981. Characterization of bullous pemphigoid antigen: a unique basement membrane protein of stratified squamous epithelia. *Cell* 24:897.
- 10. Diaz, L. A., H. D. Ratrie, W. S. Saunders, S. Futamura, H. L. Squiquera, G. J. Anhalt, and G. J. Giudice. 1990. Isolation of a human epidermal cDNA corresponding to the 180-kD autoantigen recognized by bullous pemphigoid and herpes gestationis sera. Immunolocalization of this protein to the hemidesmosome. *J Clin Invest 86:1088*.
- 11. Giudice, G. J., D. J. Emery, and L. A. Diaz. 1992. Cloning and primary structural analysis of the bullous pemphigoid autoantigen BP180. *J Invest Dermatol 99:243*.
- Laffitte, E., B. Favre, L. Fontao, S. Riou, F. Jaunin, K. Tamm, J. H. Saurat, and L. Borradori. 2001. Plectin, an unusual target antigen in bullous pemphigoid. *Br J Dermatol* 144:136.
- 13. Domloge-Hultsch, N., W. R. Gammon, R. A. Briggaman, S. G. Gil, W. G. Carter, and K. B. Yancey. 1992. Epiligrin, the major human keratinocyte integrin ligand, is a target in both an acquired autoimmune and an inherited subepidermal blistering skin disease. *J Clin Invest 90:1628*.
- 14. Kirtschig, G., M. P. Marinkovich, R. E. Burgeson, and K. B. Yancey. 1995. Antibasement membrane autoantibodies in patients with anti-epiligrin cicatricial pemphigoid bind the alpha subunit of laminin 5. *J Invest Dermatol 105:543*.

- 15. Fujimoto, W., Y. Toi, F. Okazaki, Z. Lazarova, K. B. Yancey, and J. Arata. 1999. Anti-epiligrin cicatricial pemphigoid with IgG autoantibodies to the beta and gamma subunits of laminin 5. *J Am Acad Dermatol 40:637*.
- 16. Nousari, H. C., A. Rencic, R. Hsu, K. B. Yancey, and G. J. Anhalt. 1999. Antiepiligrin cicatricial pemphigoid with antibodies against the gamma2 subunit of laminin 5. *Arch Dermatol* 135:173.
- Bhol, K. C., L. Goss, S. Kumari, J. E. Colon, and A. R. Ahmed. 2001.
 Autoantibodies to alpha 6 integrin in patients with oral pemphigoid. *J Dent Res* 80:1711.
- Tyagi, S., K. Bhol, K. Natarajan, C. Livir-Rallatos, C. S. Foster, and A. R. Ahmed.
 1996. Ocular cicatricial pemphigoid antigen: partial sequence and biochemical characterization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93:14714.
- 19. Bhol, K. C., M. J. Dans, R. K. Simmons, C. S. Foster, F. G. Giancotti, and A. R. Ahmed. 2000. The autoantibodies to alpha 6 beta 4 integrin of patients affected by ocular cicatricial pemphigoid recognize predominantly epitopes within the large cytoplasmic domain of human beta 4. *J Immunol 165:2824*.
- 20. Kumari, S., K. C. Bhol, R. K. Simmons, M. S. Razzaque, E. Letko, C. S. Foster, and A. R. Ahmed. 2001. Identification of ocular cicatricial pemphigoid antibody binding site(s) in human beta4 integrin. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42:379*.
- 21. Ghohestani, R. F., J. F. Nicolas, P. Rousselle, and A. L. Claudy. 1996. Identification of a 168-kDa mucosal antigen in a subset of patients with cicatricial pemphigoid. *J Invest Dermatol 107:136*.
- Zillikens, D., Y. Kawahara, A. Ishiko, H. Shimizu, J. Mayer, C. V. Rank, Z. Liu, G.J. Giudice, H. H. Tran, M. P. Marinkovich, E. B. Bröcker, and T. Hashimoto. 1996.

A novel subepidermal blistering disease with autoantibodies to a 200-kDa antigen of the basement membrane zone. *J Invest Dermatol 106:1333*.

- Woodley, D. T., R. A. Briggaman, E. J. O'Keefe, A. O. Inman, L. L. Queen, and W. R. Gammon. 1984. Identification of the skin basement-membrane autoantigen in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *N Engl J Med 310:1007*.
- 24. Ghohestani, R., B. G. Hudson, A. Claudy, and J. Uitto. 2000. The alpha 5 chain of type IV collagen is the target of IgG autoantibodies in a novel autoimmune disease with subepidermal blisters and renal insuficiency. *J Biol Chem* 275:16002.
- 25. Sitaru, C., M. Goebeler, and D. Zillikens. 2004. Bullöse Autoimmundermatosen(I): Pathogenese und Diagnostik. *JDDG 2:123*.
- 26. Woodley, D. T., R. E. Burgeson, G. Lunstrum, L. Bruckner-Tuderman, M. J. Reese, and R. A. Briggaman. 1988. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita antigen is the globular carboxyl terminus of type VII procollagen. *J Clin Invest 81:683*.
- 27. Elliott, G. T. 1895. Two cases of epidermolysis bullosa. J Cutan Genitourin 13:10.
- 28. Roenigk, H. H., Jr., J. G. Ryan, and W. F. Bergfeld. 1971. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. Report of three cases and review of all published cases. *Arch Dermatol 103:1*.
- 29. Dahl, M. G. 1979. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita--a sign of cicatricial pemphigoid? *Br J Dermatol 101:475*.
- 30. Gammon, W. R., R. A. Briggaman, and C. E. Wheeler, Jr. 1982. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita presenting as an inflammatory bullous disease. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 7:382.

- Gammon, W. R., R. A. Briggaman, D. T. Woodley, P. W. Heald, and C. E. Wheeler, Jr. 1984. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita--a pemphigoid-like disease. J Am Acad Dermatol 11:820.
- 32. Stewart, M. I., D. T. Woodley, and R. A. Briggaman. 1991. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita and associated symptomatic esophageal webs. *Arch Dermatol 127:373*.
- Bernard, P., L. Vaillant, B. Labeille, C. Bedane, B. Arbeille, J. P. Denoeux, G. Lorette, J. M. Bonnetblanc, and C. Prost. 1995. Incidence and distribution of subepidermal autoimmune bullous skin diseases in three French regions. Bullous Diseases French Study Group. *Arch Dermatol 131:48*.
- McCuaig, C. C., L. S. Chan, D. T. Woodley, J. E. Rasmussen, and K. D. Cooper. 1989. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita in childhood. Differentiation from hereditary epidermolysis bullosa. *Arch Dermatol* 125:944.
- 35. Lacour, J. P., P. Bernard, G. Rostain, E. Baechler-Sadoul, A. Pisani, and J. P. Ortonne. 1995. Childhood acquired epidermolysis bullosa. *Pediatr Dermatol 12:16*.
- Park, S. B., K. H. Cho, J. L. Youn, D. H. Hwang, S. C. Kim, and J. H. Chung.
 1997. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita in childhood--a case mimicking chronic bullous dermatosis of childhood. *Clin Exp Dermatol* 22:220.
- 37. Caux, F., G. Kirtschig, F. Lemarchand-Venencie, P. Y. Venencie, T. Hoang-Xuan,
 H. Robin, L. Dubertret, and C. Prost. 1997. IgA-epidermolysis bullosa acquisita in a child resulting in blindness. *Br J Dermatol* 137:270.
- Callot-Mellot, C., C. Bodemer, F. Caux, I. Bourgault-Villada, S. Fraitag, G. Goudie, M. Heller, Y. de Prost, and C. Prost. 1997. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita in childhood. *Arch Dermatol* 133:1122.

- Schmidt, E., B. Höpfner, M. Chen, C. Kuhn, L. Weber, L. Bruckner-Tuderman, E. B. Bröcker, and D. Zillikens. 2002. Childhood epidermolysis bullosa acquisita: a novel variant with reactivity to the three structural domains of type VII collagen. *Br J Dermatol 147:592.*
- 40. Zhu, X. J., Y. Niimi, and J. C. Bystryn. 1990. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. Incidence in patients with basement membrane zone antibodies. *Arch Dermatol 126:171*.
- 41. Yaoita, H., R. A. Briggaman, T. J. Lawley, T. T. Provost, and S. I. Katz. 1981. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita: ultrastructural and immunological studies. *J Invest Dermatol 76:288*.
- Gammon, W. R., R. A. Briggaman, A. O. Inman, L. L. Queen, and C. E. Wheeler.
 1984. Differentiating anti-lamina lucida and anti-sublamina densa anti-BMZ antibodies by indirect immunofluorescence on 1.0 M sodium chloride-separated skin. *J Invest Dermatol 82:139*.
- 43. Fine, J. D., S. Tyring, and W. R. Gammon. 1989. The presence of intra-lamina lucida blister formation in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita: possible role of leukocytes. *J Invest Dermatol 92:27*.
- 44. Sitaru, C., Mihai, S., Zillikens, D. 2007. The relevance of the IgG subclass of autoantibodies for blister induction in autoimmune bullous skin diseases. *Arch Dermatol Res:in press*.
- 45. Stanley, J. R., N. Rubinstein, and V. Klaus-Kovtun. 1985. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita antigen is synthesized by both human keratinocytes and human dermal fibroblasts. *J Invest Dermatol 85:542*.

- Bentz, H., N. P. Morris, L. W. Murray, L. Y. Sakai, D. W. Hollister, and R. E. Burgeson. 1983. Isolation and partial characterization of a new human collagen with an extented triple-helical structural domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 80:3168.
- 47. Morris, N. P., K. DR, R. W. Glanville, H. Bentz, and B. RE. 1986. The tissue form of type VII collagen is an antiparallel dimer. *J Biol Chem* 261:5638.
- 48. Sakai, L. Y., D. R. Keene, N. P. Morris, and B. RE. 1986. Type VII collagen is a major structural component of anchoring fibrils. *J Cell Biol* 103:1577.
- 49. Keene, D. R., L. Y. Sakai, G. P. Lunstrum, N. P. Morris, and R. E. Burgeson. 1987. Type VII collagen forms an extended network of anchoring fibrils. *J Cell Biol* 104:611.
- Parente, M. G., L. C. Chung, J. Ryynanen, D. T. Woodley, K. C. Wynn, E. A. Bauer, M. G. Mattei, M. L. Chu, and J. Uitto. 1991. Human type VII collagen: cDNA cloning and chromosomal mapping of the gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:6931*.
- 51. Greenspan, D. S., M. G. Byers, R. L. Eddy, G. G. Hoffman, and T. B. Shows. 1993. Localization of the human collagen gene COL7A1 to 3p21.3 by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Cytogenet Cell Genet 62:35*.
- 52. Christiano, A. M., D. S. Greenspan, S. Lee, and J. Uitto. 1994. Cloning of human type VII collagen. Complete primary sequence of the alpha 1(VII) chain and identification of intragenic polymorphisms. *J Biol Chem* 269:20256.
- 53. Bruckner-Tuderman, L., O. Nilssen, D. R. Zimmermann, M. T. Dours-Zimmermann, D. U. Kalinke, T. Gedde-Dahl, Jr., and J.-O. Winberg. 1995. Immunohistochemical and mutation analyses demonstrate that procollagen VII is

processed to collagen VII through removal of the NC-2 domain. J Cell Biol 131:551.

- 54. Chen, M., D. R. Keene, A. M. Costa, S. H. Tahk, and D. T. Woodley. 2001. The carboxy-terminus of type VII collagen mediates antiparallel dimer formation and constitutes a new antigenic epitope for epidermolysis bullosa acquisita autoantibodies. *J Biol Chem* 276:21649.
- 55. Lapiere, J. C., D. T. Woodley, M. G. Parente, T. Iwasaki, K. C. Wynn, A. M. Christiano, and J. Uitto. 1993. Epitope mapping of type VII collagen. Identification of discrete peptide sequences recognized by sera from patients with acquired epidermolysis bullosa. *J Clin Invest 92:1831*.
- Gammon, W. R., D. F. Murrell, M. W. Jenison, K. M. Padilla, P. S. Prisayanh, D. A. Jones, R. A. Briggaman, and S. W. D. Hunt. 1993. Autoantibodies to type VII collagen recognize epitopes in a fibronectin-like region of the noncollagenous (NC1) domain. *J Invest Dermatol 100:618*.
- 57. Tanaka, T., F. Furukawa, and S. Imamura. 1994. Epitope mapping for epidermolysis bullosa acquisita autoantibody by molecularly cloned cDNA for type VII collagen. *J Invest Dermatol 102:706*.
- 58. Tanaka, H., A. Ishida-Yamamoto, T. Hashimoto, K. Hiramoto, T. Harada, Y. Kawachi, H. Shimizu, T. Tanaka, K. Kishiyama, B. Hopfner, H. Takahashi, H. Iizuka, and L. Bruckner-Tuderman. 1997. A novel variant of acquired epidermolysis bullosa with autoantibodies against the central triple-helical domain of type VII collagen. *Lab Invest* 77:623.
- 59. Leigh, I. M., R. A. Eady, A. H. Heagerty, P. E. Purkis, P. A. Whitehead, and R. E. Burgeson. 1988. Type VII collagen is a normal component of epidermal basement

membrane, which shows altered expression in recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. *J Invest Dermatol 90:639*.

- Bruckner-Tuderman, L., Y. Mitsuhashi, U. W. Schnyder, and P. Bruckner. 1989.
 Anchoring fibrils and type VII collagen are absent from skin in severe recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. *J Invest Dermatol 93:3*.
- Bruckner-Tuderman, L., K. M. Niemi, M. Kero, U. W. Schnyder, and T. Reunala.
 1990. Type VII collagen is expressed but anchoring fibrils are defective in dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa inversa. *Br J Dermatol* 122:383.
- 62. Smith, L. T., and V. P. Sybert. 1990. Intra-epidermal retention of type VII collagen in a patient with recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. *J Invest Dermatol* 94:261.
- Christiano, A. M., D. S. Greenspan, G. G. Hoffman, X. Zhang, Y. Tamai, A. N. Lin, H. C. Dietz, A. Hovnanian, and J. Uitto. 1993. A missense mutation in type VII collagen in two affected siblings with recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. *Nat Genet 4:62*.
- 64. Christiano, A. M., M. Ryynanen, and J. Uitto. 1994. Dominant dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa: identification of a Gly-- >Ser substitution in the triple-helical domain of type VII collagen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:3549*.
- 65. Hovnanian, A., A. Rochat, C. Bodemer, E. Petit, C. A. Rivers, C. Prost, S. Fraitag, A. M. Christiano, J. Uitto, M. Lathrop, Y. Barrandon, and Y. de Prost. 1997. Characterization of 18 new mutations in COL7A1 in recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa provides evidence for distinct molecular mechanisms underlying defective anchoring fibril formation. *Am J Hum Genet 61:599*.

- Rudnicka, L., J. Varga, A. M. Christiano, R. V. Iozzo, S. A. Jimenez, and J. Uitto.
 1994. Elevated expression of type VII collagen in the skin of patients with systemic sclerosis. Regulation by transforming growth factor-beta. *J Clin Invest* 93:1709.
- 67. Sitaru, C., A. Kromminga, T. Hashimoto, E. B. Bröcker, and D. Zillikens. 2002. Autoantibodies to type VII collagen mediate Fcgamma-dependent granulocyte activation and induce dermal-epidermal separation in cryosections of human skin. *Am J Pathol 161:301*.
- 68. Shimanovich, I., S. Mihai, G. J. Oostingh, T. T. Ilenchuk, E. B. Brocker, G. Opdenakker, D. Zillikens, and C. Sitaru. 2004. Granulocyte-derived elastase and gelatinase B are required for dermal-epidermal separation induced by autoantibodies from patients with epidermolysis bullosa acquisita and bullous pemphigoid. *J Pathol 204:519*.
- Sitaru, C., S. Mihai, C. Otto, M. T. Chiriac, I. Haußer, B. Dotterweich, H. Saito, C. Rose, A. Ishiko, and D. Zillikens. 2005. Induction of dermal-epidermal separation in mice by passive transfer of antibodies to type VII collagen. *J Clin Invest* 115:870.
- 70. Woodley, D. T., R. Ram, A. Doostan, P. Bandyopadhyay, Y. Huang, J. Remington, Y. Hou, D. R. Keene, Z. Liu, and M. Chen. 2006. Induction of epidermolysis bullosa acquisita in mice by passive transfer of autoantibodies from patients. *J Invest Dermatol 126:1323*.
- Sitaru, C., M. T. Chiriac, S. Mihai, J. Büning, A. Gebert, A. Ishiko, and D. Zillikens.
 2006. Induction of complement-fixing autoantibodies against type VII collagen results in subepidermal blistering in mice. *J Immunol* 177:3461.

- 72. Mooney, E., R. J. Falk, and W. R. Gammon. 1992. Studies on complement deposits in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita and bullous pemphigoid. *Arch Dermatol* 128:58.
- 73. Smoller, B. R., and D. T. Woodley. 1992. Differences in direct immunofluorescence staining patterns in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita and bullous pemphigoid. J Am Acad Dermatol 27:674.
- Cho, H. J., I. J. Lee, and S. C. Kim. 1998. Complement-fixing abilities and IgG subclasses of autoantibodies in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *Yonsei Med J* 39:339.
- 75. Walport, M. J. 2001. Complement. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med 344:1058*.
- 76. Walport, M. J. 2001. Complement. Second of two parts. N Engl J Med 344:1140.
- 77. Lachmann, P. J., and N. C. Hughes-Jones. 1984. Initiation of complement activation. *Springer Semin Immunopathol 7:143*.
- 78. Fujita, T., M. Matsushita, and Y. Endo. 2004. The lectin-complement pathway--its role in innate immunity and evolution. *Immunol Rev 198:185*.
- 79. Thurman, J. M., and V. M. Holers. 2006. The central role of the alternative complement pathway in human disease. *J Immunol* 176:1305.
- 80. Holers, V. M. 2003. The complement system as a therapeutic target in autoimmunity. *Clin Immunol 107:140*.
- Botto, M., C. Dell'Agnola, A. E. Bygrave, E. M. Thompson, H. T. Cook, F. Petry, M. Loos, P. P. Pandolfi, and M. J. Walport. 1998. Homozygous C1q deficiency causes glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies. *Nat Genet* 19:56.

- Matsumoto, M., W. Fukuda, A. Circolo, J. Goellner, J. Strauss-Schoenberger, X. Wang, S. Fujita, T. Hidvegi, D. D. Chaplin, and H. R. Colten. 1997. Abrogation of the alternative complement pathway by targeted deletion of murine factor B. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:8720*.
- Shi, L., K. Takahashi, J. Dundee, S. Shahroor-Karni, S. Thiel, J. C. Jensenius, F. Gad, M. R. Hamblin, K. N. Sastry, and R. A. Ezekowitz. 2004. Mannose-binding lectin-deficient mice are susceptible to infection with Staphylococcus aureus. *J Exp Med 199:1379*.
- Wang, Y., S. A. Rollins, J. A. Madri, and L. A. Matis. 1995. Anti-C5 monoclonal antibody therapy prevents collagen-induced arthritis and ameliorates established disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:8955*.
- Bradley, P. P., D. A. Priebat, R. D. Christensen, and G. Rothstein. 1982.
 Measurement of cutaneous inflammation: estimation of neutrophil content with an enzyme marker. *J Invest Dermatol* 78:206.
- 86. Sitaru, C. 2007. Experimental models of epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *Exp Dermatol:in press.*
- 87. Chiriac, M. T., D. Zillikens, and C. Sitaru. 2006. Neutrophils are key cellular effectors in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *J Invest Dermatol 126:30 (Abstr.)*.
- 88. Sitaru, C., and D. Zillikens. 2005. Mechanisms of blister induction by autoantibodies. *Exp Dermatol* 14:861.
- Ji, H., K. Ohmura, U. Mahmood, D. M. Lee, F. M. Hofhuis, S. A. Boackle, K. Takahashi, V. M. Holers, M. Walport, C. Gerard, A. Ezekowitz, M. C. Carroll, M. Brenner, R. Weissleder, J. S. Verbeek, V. Duchatelle, C. Degott, C. Benoist, and

D. Mathis. 2002. Arthritis critically dependent on innate immune system players. *Immunity 16:157.*

- Trcka, J., Y. Moroi, R. A. Clynes, S. M. Goldberg, A. Bergtold, M. A. Perales, M. Ma, C. R. Ferrone, M. C. Carroll, J. V. Ravetch, and A. N. Houghton. 2002. Redundant and alternative roles for activating Fc receptors and complement in an antibody-dependent model of autoimmune vitiligo. *Immunity* 16:861.
- 91. Trendelenburg, M., L. Fossati-Jimack, J. Cortes-Hernandez, D. Turnberg, M. Lewis, S. Izui, H. T. Cook, and M. Botto. 2005. The role of complement in cryoglobulin-induced immune complex glomerulonephritis. *J Immunol* 175:6909.
- 92. Izui, S., T. Fulpius, L. Reininger, Y. Pastore, and T. Kobayakawa. 1998. Role of neutrophils in murine cryoglobulinemia. *Inflamm Res 47 Suppl 3:S145*.
- Liu, Z., G. J. Giudice, S. J. Swartz, J. A. Fairley, G. O. Till, J. L. Troy, and L. A. Diaz. 1995. The role of complement in experimental bullous pemphigoid. *J Clin Invest* 95:1539.
- 94. Girardi, G., J. Berman, P. Redecha, L. Spruce, J. M. Thurman, D. Kraus, T. J. Hollmann, P. Casali, M. C. Caroll, R. A. Wetsel, J. D. Lambris, V. M. Holers, and J. E. Salmon. 2003. Complement C5a receptors and neutrophils mediate fetal injury in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *J Clin Invest* 112:1644.
- Anhalt, G. J., G. O. Till, L. A. Diaz, R. S. Labib, H. P. Patel, and N. F. Eaglstein.
 1986. Defining the role of complement in experimental pemphigus vulgaris in mice. *J Immunol* 137:2835.
- Banda, N. K., J. M. Thurman, D. Kraus, A. Wood, M. C. Carroll, W. P. Arend, and
 V. M. Holers. 2006. Alternative complement pathway activation is essential for

inflammation and joint destruction in the passive transfer model of collageninduced arthritis. *J Immunol* 177:1904.

- 97. Holers, V. M., G. Girardi, L. Mo, J. M. Guthridge, H. Molina, S. S. Pierangeli, R. Espinola, L. E. Xiaowei, D. Mao, C. G. Vialpando, and J. E. Salmon. 2002. Complement C3 activation is required for antiphospholipid antibody-induced fetal loss. *J Exp Med* 195:211.
- Nelson, K. C., M. Zhao, P. R. Schroeder, N. Li, R. A. Wetsel, L. A. Diaz, and Z. Liu. 2006. Role of different pathways of the complement cascade in experimental bullous pemphigoid. *J Clin Invest* 116:2892.
- 99. Matsushita, M., Y. Endo, and T. Fujita. 2000. Cutting edge: complementactivating complex of ficolin and mannose-binding lectin-associated serine protease. *J Immunol 164:2281*.
- Lynch, N. J., S. Roscher, T. Hartung, S. Morath, M. Matsushita, D. N. Maennel, M. Kuraya, T. Fujita, and W. J. Schwaeble. 2004. L-ficolin specifically binds to lipoteichoic acid, a cell wall constituent of Gram-positive bacteria, and activates the lectin pathway of complement. *J Immunol 172:1198*.
- 101. Schwaeble, W. J., and K. B. Reid. 1999. Does properdin crosslink the cellular and the humoral immune response? *Immunol Today 20:17*.
- 102. Wirthmueller, U., B. Dewald, M. Thelen, M. K. Schafer, C. Stover, K. Whaley, J. North, P. Eggleton, K. B. Reid, and W. J. Schwaeble. 1997. Properdin, a positive regulator of complement activation, is released from secondary granules of stimulated peripheral blood neutrophils. *J Immunol* 158:4444.
- 103. Paul, E., and M. C. Carroll. 2002. Complement and complement receptors in autoimmunity. In *The molecular pathology of autoimmune diseases*. A. N.

Theophilopoulos, and C. A. Bona, eds. Taylor & Francis, New York, London, p. 243.

- Huber-Lang, M., J. V. Sarma, F. S. Zetoune, D. Rittirsch, T. A. Neff, S. R. McGuire, J. D. Lambris, R. L. Warner, M. A. Flierl, L. M. Hoesel, F. Gebhard, J. G. Younger, S. M. Drouin, R. A. Wetsel, and P. A. Ward. 2006. Generation of C5a in the absence of C3: a new complement activation pathway. *Nat Med* 12:682.
- 105. Ward, P. A., and J. H. Hill. 1970. C5 chemotactic fragments produced by an enzyme in lysosomal granules of neutrophils. *J Immunol 104:535*.
- 106. Huber-Lang, M., E. M. Younkin, J. V. Sarma, N. Riedemann, S. R. McGuire, K. T. Lu, R. Kunkel, J. G. Younger, F. S. Zetoune, and P. A. Ward. 2002. Generation of C5a by phagocytic cells. *Am J Pathol 161:1849*.
- 107. Riley-Vargas, R. C., S. Lanzendorf, and J. P. Atkinson. 2005. Targeted and restricted complement activation on acrosome-reacted spermatozoa. *J Clin Invest 115:1241*.
- 108. Guo, R. F., and P. A. Ward. 2005. Role of C5a in inflammatory responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23:821.
- 109. Hillmen, P., C. Hall, J. C. Marsh, M. Elebute, M. P. Bombara, B. E. Petro, M. J. Cullen, S. J. Richards, S. A. Rollins, C. F. Mojcik, and R. P. Rother. 2004. Effect of eculizumab on hemolysis and transfusion requirements in patients with paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. *N Engl J Med 350:552*.
- 110. Hill, A., P. Hillmen, S. J. Richards, D. Elebute, J. C. Marsh, J. Chan, C. F. Mojcik, and R. P. Rother. 2005. Sustained response and long-term safety of eculizumab in paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. *Blood 106:2559*.

- 111. Atkinson, C., H. Song, B. Lu, F. Qiao, T. A. Burns, V. M. Holers, G. C. Tsokos, and S. Tomlinson. 2005. Targeted complement inhibition by C3d recognition ameliorates tissue injury without apparent increase in susceptibility to infection. J *Clin Invest 115:2444*.
- Song, H., C. He, C. Knaak, J. M. Guthridge, V. M. Holers, and S. Tomlinson.
 2003. Complement receptor 2-mediated targeting of complement inhibitors to sites of complement activation. *J Clin Invest 111:1875*.

Acknowledgments

The research presented in this thesis was performed at the Department of Dermatology, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany. Financial support was obtained by grants Zi 439/6-2 and SI 1281/1-1 from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (to C.S. and D.Z.). Parts of this thesis were recently accepted for publication: Mihai S, Chiriac MT, Takahashi K, Thurman JM, Holers VM, Zillikens D, Botto M, Sitaru C. The alternative pathway of complement activation is critical for blister induction in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. J Immunol, in press.

I thank Professor Zillikens for giving me the opportunity to start my scientific career in the immunodermatology field, for guidance and stimulating discussions, and for the warm environment at the Department of Dermatology.

I am indebted to Dr. Cassian Sitaru for constant support, guidance, encouragement, and willingness to share his knowledge with me throughout my period as a doctoral fellow in Lübeck.

I am grateful to Dr. Mircea T. Chiriac for help with the MPO assay and for critically reading the manuscript. I thank Drs. Marina Botto, London, UK, V. Michael Hollers and Joshua M. Thurman, Denver, Colorado, USA, and Kazue Takahashi, Boston, USA, for kindly providing us with the mice for this study, and for critically reading the manuscript. I thank Dr. Yi Wang for kindly providing us the antibody specific to murine C5 (BB5.1)

I owe special thanks to my husband, for his constant love, support and understanding, and to our daughter Lara, for not giving me a hard time during my pregnancy, while

performing the last experiments for this thesis, and for being such a lovely and patient baby while writing it.

Last, but not least, I thank my parents, especially my mother, for their support and loving care during every step of my education.

Curriculum vitae

Surname:	Mihai
First name:	Sidonia
Date of birth:	04.09.1977
Place of birth:	Miercurea-Ciuc, Romania
Nationality:	Romanian
Confession:	Orthodox
Parents:	Mihai, Neculai
	Mihai, Annamaria
Siblings:	Two sisters, Diana-Laura and Gabriela
Matrimonial status:	Married
Husband:	Gheorghe Hundorfean
Children:	One daughter, Lara Hundorfean, born in November 2006
E-mail:	mihaisidonia@hotmail.com

SCHOOL EDUCATION

1983 - 1987	Primary school in Miercurea-Ciuc, Romania
1987 - 1995	Secondary school in Miercurea-Ciuc, Romania
July 1995:	Baccalaureate (high school diploma)

UNIVERSITY STUDIES

1995 -2001:	Study of Medicine at the University of Medicine and
	Pharmacy, Targu-Mures, Romania
1999-2001:	Diploma thesis "The incidence of human dipylidiasis at the
	Parasitology Unit of the Mures County Hospital, Romania,
	between 1999 and 2000" at the Department of Parasitology
	and Microbiology, University of Medicine and Pharmacy,
	Targu-Mures, Romania
September 2001:	License as "Medical-Doctor"

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- 01.01.2002-28.02.2003: Resident physician, Department of Clinical Immunology and Allergology, "Iuliu Hatieganu" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj-Napoca, Romania
- 01.03.2003-31.05.2004: Graduate student (DFG Graduate College "Immunomodulation 520/2"), Department of Dermatology, University of Würzburg, Germany
- Since 01.06.2004 Doctoral fellow at the Department of Dermatology, University of Lübeck, Germany (Chairperson: Prof. Dr. Detlef Zillikens). The work for the doctoral thesis was performed between 01.10.2003-31.08.2006.

List of own original articles generated during the thesis work

1. **Mihai S**, Chiriac MT, Takahashi K, Thurman JM, Holers VM, Zillikens D, Botto M, Sitaru C. The alternative pathway of complement activation is critical for blister induction in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *J Immunol*, in press (IF 6.38). *This work constitutes the main body of the doctoral thesis.*

2. Sitaru C, **Mihai S**, Otto C, Chiriac MT, Haußer I, Dotterweich B, Saito H, Rose C, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Induction of dermal-epidermal separation in mice by passive transfer of antibodies to type VII collagen. *J Clin Invest* 2005, 115: 870-878 (IF 15,05). *The work presented here describes the first passive transfer model for the autoimmune blistering skin disease epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. With some modifications, most of the protocols published in this study, including the purification of antibodies, the injection protocols and the scoring for the immunoreactants deposited in situ were successfully applied throughout the in vivo experiments performed in the doctoral thesis.*

3. Sitaru C, Chiriac MT, **Mihai S**, Büning J, Gebert A, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Induction of complement fixing IgG4 autoantibodies against type VII collagen results in subepidermal blistering in mice. *J Immunol* 2006 177(5): 3461-8 (IF 6.38).

Some methods and protocols published in this paper, including ELISA with recombinant protein and evaluation of the disease activity in vivo, were adapted and used in the doctoral thesis.

4. Shimanovich I, **Mihai S**, Oostingh GJ, Ilenchuk T, Bröcker E-B, Opdenakker G, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. Granulocyte-derived elastase and gelatinase B are required for dermal-epidermal separation induced by autoantibodies from patients with epidermolysis bullosa acquisita and bullous pemphigoid. *J Pathol* 2004, 204: 519-527 (IF 6.21).

5. Olaru F, **Mihai S**, Petrescu I, Zillikens, D, Sitaru C. Generation and characterization of monoclonal antibodies against the intracellular domain of human type XVII collagen. *Hybridoma* 2006, 25(3): 158-62 (IF 0.4).

6. **Mihai S**, Chiriac MT Herrero-Gonzales JE, Goodall M, Jefferis R, Savage CO, Zillikens, D, Sitaru C. Non-complement-fixing IgG4 autoantibodies activate leukocytes and induce dermal-epidermal separation. Submitted.

List of review articles generated during the thesis work

1. Sitaru C, **Mihai S**, Zillikens D. The relevance of IgG subclass of autoantibodies for blister induction in autoimmune bullous skin diseases. *Arch Dermatol Res* 2007, in press (IF 1.21).

Cumulative personal Impact Factor: 35,63

List of abstracts published during the thesis work

1. Sitaru C, **Mihai S**, Otto C, Chiriac MT, Hausser I, Dotterweich B, Saito H, Rose C, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Induction of dermal-epidermal separation in mice by passive transfer of antibodies to type VII collagen. 34th Annual Meeting of the European Society for Dermatological Research (ESDR), 9-12 September 2004, Vienna, Austria. J Invest Dermatol 2004, 123: A 13.

2. Sitaru C, **Mihai S**, Otto C, Chiriac MT, Hausser I, Dotterweich B, Saito H, Rose C, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Induction of dermal-epidermal separation in mice by passive transfer of antibodies to type VII collagen. Joint Annual Meeting of the German and Dutch Societies for Immunology (JAMI), 20-23 October, Maastricht, The Netherlands. Immunobiology 2004; 209: 302.

3. **Mihai S**, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. Non-complement-fixing IgG4 autoantibodies from bullous pemphigoid patients induce dermal-epidermal separation in cryosections of human skin. 32nd Annual Meeting of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Dermatologische Forschung (ADF), 03-05 March 2005, Innsbruck, Austria. Arch Dermatol Res 2005; 296: 389.

3. Sitaru C, Chiriac MT, **Mihai S**, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Development of an active disease model for epidermolysis bullosa acquisita in mice. 32nd Annual Meeting of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Dermatologische Forschung (ADF), 03-05 March 2005, Innsbruck, Austria. Arch Dermatol Res 2005; 296: 389.

4. Sitaru C, Chiriac MT, **Mihai S**, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Development of an active disease model for epidermolysis bullosa acquisita in mice. 10th European Meeting on

Complement in Human Disease, 09-13 September 2005, Heidelberg, Germany. Mol Immunol 2006; 43: 158.

5. **Mihai S,** Sitaru C, Otto C, Chiriac MT, Hausser I, Dotterweich B, Saito H, Rose C, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Entwicklung eines tiermodells für die Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. 7th Meeting of the German-Japanese Society of Dermatology (GJSD), 03-05 June 2005, Dresden. Hautarzt, 2005; 56: 506-516.

6. **Mihai S**, Herrero-Gonzalez JE, Goodall M, Jefferis R, Savage CO, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. Non-complement-fixing IgG4 autoantibodies from bullous pemphigoid patients activate leukocytes and induce blisters in cryosections of human skin. 35th Annual Meeting of the European Society for Dermatological Research (ESDR), 22-24 September 2005, Tübingen, Germany. J Invest Dermatol 2005, 125 (3): A 45

7. Sitaru C, Chiriac MT, **Mihai S**, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Immunization against type VII collagen induces an active subepidermal autoimmune blistering disease in mice. 35th Annual Meeting of the European Society for Dermatological Research (ESDR), 22-24 September 2005, Tübingen, Germany. J Invest Dermatol 2005; 125: S1.

8. Sesarman AV, **Mihai S**, Chiriac MT, Olaru F, Thurman JM, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. Blocking the interaction with complement and Fc receptors abolishes antibody-induced blistering in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. 34th Annual Meeting of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Dermatologische Forschung (ADF), 08–10 March 2006, Freiburg, Germany. Exp Dermatol 2007; 16: 223.

9. Sitaru C, Chiriac MT, **Mihai S**, Buning J, Gebert A, Ishiko A, Zillikens D. Induction of complement-fixing autoantibodies against type VII collagen results in subepidermal blistering in mice. 67th Annual Meeting of the Society for Investigative Dermatology (SID), 03–06May, 2006 Philadelphia, USA. J Invest Dermatol 2006; 126: S1.

10. **Mihai S**, Chiriac MT, Takahashi K, Thurman JM, Holers VM, Botto M, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. The alternative pathway of complement activation is critical for the induction of experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. 36th Annual Meeting of the European Society for Dermatological Research (ESDR), 07-09 September 2006, Paris, France. J Invest Dermatol 2006; 126: S3.

11. Sesarman AV, **Mihai S**, Chiriac MT, Olaru F, Thurman JM, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. Blocking the interaction with complement and Fc receptors abolishes antibody-induced blistering in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. 34th Annual Meeting of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Dermatologische Forschung (ADF), 08–10 March 2006, Freiburg, Germany. Exp Dermatol 2007; 16: 223.

12. Sesarman AV, **Mihai S**, Chiriac MT, Olaru F, Thurman JM, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. Complement- and leukocyte-activating capacity of antibodies against type VII collagen determines their blister-inducing potential. 68th Annual Meeting of the Society for Investigative Dermatology (SID), 09–12 May, 2007 Los Angeles, USA. J Invest Dermatol 2007; in press.